RECEIVED 01-20-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2013AP2435-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

FERNANDO ORTIZ-MONDRAGON,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District III, Affirming a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Circuit Court for Brown County, the Honorable Donald R. Zuidmulder, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

MICHELLE L. VELASQUEZ Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1079355

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4300 E-mail: velasquezm@opd.wi.gov

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Does *Padilla v. Kentucky* and the Sixth Amendment require criminal defense attorneys to conduct research, outside of the immigration statute, to determine whether a particular crime falls into a broader category of crimes for which the immigration consequences are clear in order to properly advise their client about the immigration consequences that will result from a plea?

In the Court of Appeals Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon argued that the immigration consequences of his plea were straightforward and that trial counsel was constitutionally deficient for failing to provide him with specific advice as the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Padilla v. Kentucky* required.

The Wisconsin Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court's order denying the postconviction motion and concluded that the consequences cannot be clear if an attorney must research federal court and "unfamiliar" Board of Immigration Appeals decisions to identify elements that constitute a category of crimes, such as crimes involving moral turpitude (CIMT), and then analyze whether the elements of the crime at issue meet that definition. *State v. Ortiz-Mondragon*, 2014 WI App 114, ¶ 12, __ Wis.2d__, 856 N.W.2d 339. (App. 101-109).

2. Can a signed plea questionnaire form, on its own, affirmatively demonstrate that defense counsel adequately advised his client of the immigration consequences of the plea?

The Wisconsin Court of Appeals did not directly address whether a plea questionnaire on its own is sufficient

to show that an attorney adequately counseled his client about potential immigration consequences of his plea. However, it affirmed the written decision of the circuit court, which held that because the consequences were unclear, counsel was only required to give a general warning; therefore a *Machner* hearing was unnecessary because the record affirmatively showed that counsel fulfilled his obligation. *Ortiz-Mondragon*, 2014 WI App 114, ¶13, (App. 109); (36:6-7; App. 115-116).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

In light of this Court's decision to grant Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon's petition for review, both oral argument and publication are warranted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner, Fernando Ortiz-Mondragon petitioned for review of a published decision of the Court of Appeals, which affirmed the decision of the circuit court, denying, without a hearing, his postconviction motion for plea withdrawal based on the ineffective assistance of counsel.

Pursuant to a plea agreement, Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon pled guilty to substantial battery, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.01(1), criminal damage to property, contrary to Wis. Stat. 943.01(1), (1:1), and disorderly conduct, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 947.01(1:1), all as acts of domestic violence under Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a). (45:3-4). The circuit court followed a joint recommendation and placed Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon on probation for a period of three years, with four months of conditional jail time. (45:12-13).

Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon timely filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief, and subsequently filed a postconviction motion alleging ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to advise him of the immigration consequences of his conviction. (35:19; App. 117-123).

The circuit court denied the motion in a written order, without a hearing, and Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon appealed. (36:1-7; App. 110-116; 37). In a published opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed the judgment and order. *Ortiz-Mondragon*, 2014 WI App 114, (App. 101-109).

Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon filed a petition for review in this Court on November 6, 2014, and on December 18, 2014 this Court granted review.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon came to the United States from Mexico in 1997. (35: 1; App. 117) He moved to Wisconsin in 2002 to work in the agricultural industry. (35: 1; App. 117). He has four children that are citizens of the Untied States, all of whom reside in Wisconsin. (35:1; App. 117). Prior to the charges in the present case, Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon had no prior criminal history. (35:1; App. 117).

On September 14, 2012, the state filed a criminal complaint charging Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon with the following: (1) substantial battery, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.19(2), (1:1); (2) false imprisonment, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.30, (1:1); (3) felony intimidation to a victim, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.45(1), (1:2); (4) criminal damage to property, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 943.01(1), (1:2); and (5) disorderly conduct, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 947.01(1), (1:2). All of the

counts included the domestic abuse enhancer. *See* Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a). (1:2).

Pursuant to a plea agreement, Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon pled guilty to counts one, four and five. (45: 3-4). The state and defense jointly recommended that the circuit court impose three years of probation with four months of conditional jail time. (45:3-4, 8). Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon, along with his attorney, signed a plea questionnaire and waiver of rights form. (20:3). The form contained the same standard immigration warning that judges are required to give during a plea colloquy under Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1). (20:3).

At sentencing, the victim spoke to the court, expressing concern that Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon may be deported. (45:9-10). The circuit court asked defense counsel whether there was an immigration hold, to which counsel replied, "I think there is, but the information I get is secondhand." (45:11). The circuit court explained that a hold would was a federal issue separate from the court's sentence. (45:14). The circuit court followed the joint probation recommendation. (45:12-13).

Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon filed a timely notice of intent to seek postconviction relief and a timely postconviction motion alleging ineffective assistance of counsel. (19; 35; App. 117-123). The motion asserted that Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon's conviction for substantial battery as an act of domestic abuse made him ineligible to apply for cancellation of removal from the United States because the crime is considered a "crime involving moral turpitude" (CIMT), and is not eligible for any exception. (35:2; App. 118). The same crime also rendered him permanently inadmissible to the United States. (35:3; App. 19). Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon asserted that trial counsel failed to advise him about adverse

immigration consequences, and specifically that his plea precluded him from gaining lawful status and rendered him permanently inadmissible. (35:5; App. 121).

Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon's motion argued that under *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356 (2010), trial counsel had a duty to provide advice about the adverse immigration consequences of his conviction, including removal and permanent exclusion from the United States. (35:5;App. 121). He further argued that the consequences of his conviction were clear, and that trial counsel acting within professional norms would have been able to discover that a substantial battery as an act of domestic abuse as defined in Wisconsin was a CIMT; and therefore, should have been able to provide him with specific advice about the immigration consequences of his conviction. (35:5; App. 121).

Finally, Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon argued that defense counsel's deficient performance prejudiced him because if he had known that his plea would result in mandatory deportation and permanent separation from his family, he would have either attempted to negotiate a different plea agreement, or would have gone to trial in order to preserve any possibility of either remaining in the United States or being able to return in the future. (35:6; App. 122).

The circuit court denied the postconviction motion in a written order without a hearing. (36:6-7; App. 115-116). It determined that "Ortiz's trial counsel was *not* required to provide Ortiz with unequivocal advice regarding the immigration-related consequences of his plea because the law elucidating the consequences is not succinct and straightforward." (36:4-5; App. 113-114). The circuit court said that unlike the controlled substance conviction in

Padilla, a CIMT is a broad classification of crimes. (36:6; App. 115).

The circuit court assumed that Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon's conviction for substantial battery was a CIMT, but found that because the immigration statute does not "provide or point one to a definition for the term, [it] can hardly be said to be 'succinct and straightforward." (36:6; App. 115). It concluded, therefore, that defense counsel was not required to do more than provide Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon with "equivocal" advice that any conviction could carry adverse immigration consequences. (36:6; App. 115). The circuit court noted that it provided Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon with statutory immigration warnings during the plea colloquy, and that Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon represented that he read and understood the plea questionnaire form, which contained the identical warning the court gave. (36:2; App. 118). The court also pointed out that defense counsel signed the form as well, affirming that he discussed the document with Mr. Oritz-Mondragon. (36:2; App. 118). The circuit court concluded that the record affirmatively demonstrated that defense counsel fulfilled this obligation to provide Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon with an "equivocal" warning about the potential immigration consequences. (36:6-7; App. 115-116).

Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon filed a timely notice of appeal. (37). As indicated above, the Court of Appeals, in a published decision, affirmed the circuit court's decision and denied relief. This court granted review.

ARGUMENT

- I. Counsel's Duty to Provide His Client with Specific Advice Regarding the Immigration Consequences of His Conviction Under *Padilla* and the Sixth Amendment Remains the Same Whether the Crime(s) Triggering the Consequences Is Enumerated in the Immigration Statute, or Whether it Belongs to a Broader Category of Crimes.
 - A. Summary of the argument and standard of review.

Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon, a non-citizen, made the United States his home for approximately fifteen years prior to the inception of this case. (35:1; App. 117). During that time he worked and had a family. (35:1; App. 117). The length of time Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon spent in the United States, as well as his family connections, made preserving any ability to remain in or return to the United States following his conviction extremely important to him. Prior to entering the plea, Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon was eligible to apply for status as a lawful permanent resident (LPR) through non-LPR cancellation of removal. The moment he pled guilty in this case he lost his only defense to removal. Moreover, due solely to his plea, he became permanently inadmissible to the United States.

Like all criminal defendants, under the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, §7 of the Wisconsin Constitution, Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon had a right to the effective assistance of counsel. *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 18, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305. Because of his status as a non-citizen, as well as his desire to mitigate adverse immigration consequences, his right to the effective assistance of counsel included the right to receive

advice about how his plea would affect his ability to remain and/or return to the United States. *See Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356 (2010).

In *Padilla v. Kentucky*, the United States Supreme Court announced that advice regarding immigration consequences of a criminal conviction was within the scope of the Sixth Amendment's right to the effective assistance of counsel. In reaching this conclusion, the Court recognized that the classes of offenses susceptible to adverse immigration consequences had significantly increased, thereby making the "drastic measure" of deportation or removal "virtually inevitable for a vast number of noncitizens convicted of crimes." Padilla, 559 U.S. at 360. It reasoned that because changes in immigration law had "raised the stakes of a noncitizen's criminal conviction[,] [t]he importance of accurate legal advice has never been more important." *Id.* at 364. The *Padilla* Court held that the nature of the advice specific or general - was dependent on the clarity of the immigration consequences. *Id.* at 369.

Here, the consequences for Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon's conviction were straightforward, therefore requiring defense counsel to provide clear advice about the immigration consequences under *Padilla*. 559 U.S. 356, 369. The Immigration and Naturalization Act (INA) explicitly outlines the consequences for convictions of CIMTs. Substantial battery as an act of domestic abuse in Wisconsin is a CIMT that triggered certain deportation by rendering Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon ineligible for cancellation or removal and also made him permanently inadmissible.

Although Crimes Involving Moral Turpitude is a broad classification of crimes, not all crimes belonging to that class have "unclear or uncertain" consequences so as to limit

counsel's role to providing more general advice to his noncitizen client. Some crimes, such as substantial battery, domestic abuse, are universally treated as CIMT and will trigger the clear consequences the immigration statute prescribes for committing a CIMT. Therefore, in this case, defense counsel should have advised Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon that a conviction for substantial battery, domestic abuse, would render him ineligible for cancellation of removal and permanent exclusion.

Determining whether a crime is a CIMT requires more than a review of the immigration statute. Under the Sixth Amendment, counsel is required to investigate and research the law in order to provide his client with advice about whether or not a particular plea is the best option. In this instance, research would have revealed the serious and permanent nature of the immigration consequences for the substantial battery offense, given Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon's particular situation. Moreover, ample resources are available to assist attorneys in determining whether the immigration consequences are clear.

Here, because the circuit court denied the motion without a hearing, there is no record as to what, if any, advice trial counsel provided Mr. Oritz-Mondragon regarding the immigration consequences of his conviction for substantial battery, domestic abuse. The record contains only the plea questionnaire and statutory notification from the court. The generic plea questionnaire warning does not provide sufficient evidence that trial counsel met his obligation to research in order determine the immigration consequences and recommend a plea that was in Mr. Ortiz-Mondragon's best interest. Moreover, the court's statutory plea colloquy notification is insufficient to cure the deficiency in trial

counsel's advice regarding the particular immigration consequences of a conviction for his client.

An ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claim ordinarily presents a mixed question of fact and law. *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 21. This Court upholds a circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id*. Whether an attorney's performance was constitutionally deficient is a question of law that this Court reviews *de novo*. *Id*.

- B. Determining the clarity of the immigration consequences of a conviction should not be limited to a perfunctory review of crimes enumerated in the Immigration and Naturalization Act.
 - 1. **Padilla v. Kentucky** requires affirmative advice about immigration consequences.

Immigration law and criminal law intersect, and their consequences are intertwined. Over time, changes in immigration laws have increasingly expanded the classes of deportable offenses, while at the same time imposing increased limitations on the discretion of judges to provide relief from the harsh consequences of removal. *Padilla*, 559 U.S. 356, 360. Therefore, removal is now "virtually inevitable for a vast number of noncitizens convicted of crimes." *Id*. Long- recognized as a penalty, deportation and/or exclusion may at times be the most significant consequence that results from a criminal conviction for a non-citizen defendant. *Id*. at 364.

Because of the particularly severe immigration penalties non-citizens may face, counsel's performance is not only constitutionally deficient in instances where counsel affirmatively misadvised a client, but also where counsel failed to provide any advice at all. *Id*. at 369.

Padilla distinguishes the nature of the advice - specific or general - based on whether the consequences of a conviction are "clear," and "succinct and straightforward," or whether they are "unclear" or "uncertain." Id. When the consequence is clear, counsel must provide advice that is "equally clear." *Id*. However, when the consequence is "unclear," counsel's role "is more limited." Id. In an "unclear" situation, a defense attorney must still advise his client regarding immigration consequences, but the advice may be reduced to a more general warning that a conviction may result in adverse immigration consequences. *Id*. Silence regarding immigration consequences is, however, per se deficient for purposes of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, because a failure to provide any advice is "fundamentally at odds with the critical obligation of counsel to advise the client of the advantages and disadvantages of a plea agreement." *Id*. at 370-371.

2. The Court of Appeals misinterpreted the clear vs. unclear distinction.

The scope of counsel's duty to provide specific advice hinges on the clarity of the immigration consequences that will result from a conviction. *Padilla*, 559 U.S. 356, 369. In *Padilla*, the defendant pled guilty to trafficking marijuana, which was a deportable offense under 8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)(2)(B)(i). *Id.* at 368. There, the immigration consequences were "succinct, clear, and explicit" and could be easily gleaned from a reading of the statute. *Padilla*, 559 U.S. 356, 369. Accordingly, Mr. Padilla's counsel had a duty to inform him that a plea to the marijuana trafficking charge would result in mandatory deportation. *Id.* The *Padilla* Court

acknowledged that there will be situations where the consequences of a particular plea agreement will be "unclear" or "uncertain," and in those situations, the duty to provide advice is more limited. *Id*.

Here, the Court of Appeals interpreted the distinction between clear and unclear consequences, and therefore the scope of advice required according to whether the crime at issue was enumerated in the immigration statute, *Ortiz-Mondragon*, 2014 WI App 114 ¶¶ 12-13, (App.109). It concluded that if an attorney must research federal law and Board of Immigration Appeals decisions to determine whether the crime the crime will fall into a broader category of crimes, then the consequences can not be clear. Padilla, 2014 WI App 114, ¶ 12. *Id*.

Importantly, however, the Court in *Padilla* did not limit its analysis of the clarity of the consequences to crimes that are specifically defined in the immigration statute. Such a limitation undermines the importance that the Court placed on a non-citizen defendant's right to the effective assistance of counsel at perhaps the most critical phase of their case – the plea negotiation. This stage of a criminal proceeding is crucial for a non-citizen defendant to be informed about whether a particular plea will result in virtually certain removal. Padilla, 559 U.S. 356, 373-374. Padilla did not expand the Sixth Amendment, rather, it clarified that because the drastic measure of removal is virtually inevitable for the majority of non-citizens convicted of crimes, it is penalty necessarily linked to a conviction. *Id*. at 363-364. Therefore, advice about that penalty is necessary to ensure a defendant's decision to accept a plea is informed. *Id*. at 363-364.

Indeed, "'[m]ost crimes affecting immigration status are not specifically mentioned by the [Immigration and

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