RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 02-09-2015

IN SUPREME COURT PLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

No. 2013AP2435-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

FERNANDO ORTIZ-MONDRAGON,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT III, AFFIRMING AN ORDER DENYING A POSTCONVICTION MOTION FOR PLEA WITHDRAWAL, ENTERED IN BROWN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DONALD R. ZUIDMULDER, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

NANCY A. NOET Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1023106

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

. . . .

In short, the professional organizations and guidebooks on which the Court so heavily relies are right to say that "nothing is ever simple with immigration law" — including the determination whether immigration law clearly makes a particular offense removable. ABA Guidebook § 4.65, at 130; Immigration Law and Crimes § 2:1.

Padilla, 559 U.S. at 377-81 (Alito, J., concurring). Justice Alito's comments accurately reflect the difficulty inherent in determining the immigration consequences of certain convictions, particularly those that may or may not be crimes involving moral turpitude.

The Immigration and Nationality Act does not define what constitutes a crime involving moral turpitude. Despite the vagueness of the phrase, the Supreme Court has held that it is not unconstitutional. *Jordan v. De George*, 341 U.S. 223, 240 (1951). In his dissent, however, Justice Jackson observed that:

What is striking about the opinions in these "moral turpitude" cases is the wearisome repetition of cliché[s] [] attempting to define "moral turpitude," usually a quotation from Bouvier. But the guiding line seems to have no relation to the result reached. The chief impression from the cases is the caprice of the judgments. How many aliens have been deported who would not have been had some other judge heard their cases, and vice versa, we may only guess. That is not government by law.

Jordan, 341 U.S. at 239 (Jackson, J., dissenting) (footnote omitted). In keeping with that sentiment, courts often have criticized the murkiness of how crimes involving moral turpitude are defined. See, e.g., Partyka v. Att'y Gen. of U.S., 417 F.3d 408, 409 (3d Cir. 2005) (referencing the "amorphous morass of moral turpitude law"); Marmolejo-Campos v. Holder, 558 F.3d 903, 909 (9th Cir. 2009) (en banc) ("[M]oral turpitude' is perhaps the quintessential example of an ambiguous phrase."); id. at 921 (Berzon, J., dissenting) (referring to precedent on the definition of crimes involving moral turpitude as "a mess of conflicting authority"); Garcia-Meza v. Mukasey, 516 F.3d 535, 536 (7th Cir. 2008) (describing the phrase "crime involving moral turpitude" as "notoriously baffling").

One example of just how murky this area of the law is illustrated by the split in the federal circuits concerning the proper methodology for immigration judges and courts to use in assessing whether convictions are crimes involving moral turpitude. The split stems largely from the United States Attorney General's opinion in *Matter of Silva-Trevino*, 24 I. & N. Dec. 687 (A.G. 2008). In that opinion, the Attorney General attempted to clarify earlier decisions concerning crimes involving moral turpitude:

[T]his opinion rearticulates the Department's definition of the term [CIMT] in a manner that responds specifically to the judicial criticism. . . . [T]his opinion makes clear that, to qualify as a crime

involving moral turpitude for purposes of the Act, a crime must involve both reprehensible conduct and some degree of scienter, whether specific intent, deliberateness, willfulness, or recklessness.

Id. at 709 n.1.

In addition, the Attorney General analyzed the Immigration and Nationalization Act and concluded that immigration judges may consult evidence outside the record of conviction to determine whether an alien has been convicted of a crime involving moral turpitude.³ It appears that the Attorney General chose to permit immigration judges to consult information outside the record of conviction because "[t]he relevant provisions contemplate a finding that the particular alien did or did not commit a crime involving moral turpitude before immigration penalties are or are not applied." Id. at 699. The Attorney General also concluded that immigration judges should not be confined to the record of conviction when deciding whether an alien has been convicted of a crime involving moral turpitude because "moral turpitude" is not "an element of an offense." Id. at 699-700.

_

³ The Attorney General established a three-step process for this assessment. First, the immigration judge must determine if the crime at issue is categorically a crime involving moral turpitude. *Matter of Silva-Trevino*, 24 I. & N. Dec. 687, 689-90 (A.G. 2008). If it is not, the immigration judge moves to the second step to decide whether the conviction is a crime involving moral turpitude under the modified categorical approach, which permits the immigration judge to consider the "record of conviction[,]" including "documents such as the indictment, the judgment of conviction, jury instructions, a signed guilty plea and the plea transcript." *Id.* at 690. Finally, if the offense is not a crime involving moral turpitude under the modified categorical approach, the immigration judge goes on to the third step and considers evidence outside of the record of conviction. *Id.*

The federal circuits disagree on the *Silva-Trevino* opinion. Some circuits, including the Seventh and Eighth Circuits, are in accord with *Silva-Trevino* and allow immigration judges to consider evidence outside the record of conviction to determine whether an alien's conviction is a crime involving moral turpitude.⁴ The Third, Fourth, Fifth, Ninth, and Eleventh Circuits, however, have explicitly rejected the *Silva-Trevino* three-step analysis.⁵ The Supreme Court may well resolve this split, but it has not done so yet. *Silva-Trevino* remains as precedent, but with such significant disagreement across the circuits, the law is far from settled. Naturally, different methodologies can and do yield different results in cases that are otherwise similar.

In addition, the assessment of what constitutes a crime involving moral turpitude is further complicated under any methodology because of the wide variety of criminal statutes and related offenses that may qualify. The elements and terms of individual state statutes for something as simple as battery often vary significantly. As a result, decisions regarding whether and when a given offense amounts to a crime involving moral turpitude vary as well.

⁴ Ali v. Mukasey, 521 F.3d 737, 741 (7th Cir. 2008) (regarding "crimes involving moral turpitude," there are two questions a court must answer: first, "the fact of the prior conviction," for which the immigration judge cannot go outside the record of conviction, and second, "the appropriate classification of that conviction, which may require additional information."); Bobadilla v. Holder, 679 F.3d 1052, 1055 (8th Cir. 2012) ("[b]ecause 'moral turpitude' is not an element of any criminal offense," the [immigration judge] can look beyond the fact of conviction to the circumstances of the crime to determine whether moral turpitude was involved).

⁵ See Jean-Louis v. Att'y Gen. of U.S., 582 F.3d 462 (3d Cir. 2009); Prudencio v. Holder, 669 F.3d 472 (4th Cir. 2012); Silva-Trevino v. Holder, 742 F.3d 197 (5th Cir. 2014); Olivas-Motta v. Holder, 716 F.3d 1199 (9th Cir. 2013), republished at 746 F.3d 907 (9th Cir. 2013); Fajardo v. U.S. Att'y Gen., 659 F.3d 1303 (11th Cir. 2011).

To determine whether a crime is one of moral turpitude, adjudicators examine the elements of the applicable statute. See Matter of Torres-Varela, 23 I. & N. Dec. 78, 84-85 (B.I.A. 2001). At the same time, neither the seriousness of the offense nor the severity of the sentence imposed is conclusive as to whether a crime involves moral turpitude. Matter of Serna, 20 I. & N. Dec. 579, 581 (B.I.A. 1992). For example, a simple assault and battery offense generally is not a crime of moral turpitude, but an aggravating factor can alter that determination. See, e.g., Yousefi v. U.S. I.N.S., 260 F.3d 318, 326-27 (4th Cir. 2001); Matter of Fualaau, 21 I. & N. Dec. 475 (B.I.A. 1996); Matter of Danesh, 19 I. & N. Dec. 669 (B.I.A. 1988). The analysis is far from precise, and decisions from both the Board and the courts reflect that.

For instance, the Board and the courts have held that a conviction for domestic assault involves moral turpitude if an essential element of the crime is intent to cause physical harm to a spouse, child, or domestic partner. In re Tran, 21 I. & N. Dec. 291 (B.I.A. 1996); Gradega v. U.S. I.N.S., 12 F.3d 919 (9th Cir. 1993), superseded by statute as stated in Planes v. Holder, 652 F.3d 991 (9th Cir. 2011). The Board also held, however, that a Virginia conviction for domestic assault and battery is not necessarily a crime of moral turpitude despite the fact that the statute requires an intent to cause injury. In re Sejas, 24 I. & N. Dec. 236 (B.I.A. 2007).

In another context, the Fifth Circuit held that a Texas conviction for failing to provide assistance after a car accident that resulted in injury or death was a crime involving moral turpitude. *Garcia-Maldonado v. Gonzales*, 491 F.3d 284, 290 (5th Cir. 2007). The Ninth Circuit then distinguished that decision and found that a conviction for leaving the scene after an accident did not necessarily involve moral turpitude when the minimum violation included refusal to provide identification information. *Cerezo v. Mukasey*, 512 F.3d 1163, 1168-69 (9th Cir. 2008).

The above discussion does not capture nearly all of the nuances and discrepancies that exist in this area of the law, but it does illustrate the complexity of deciphering whether a given offense is a crime involving moral turpitude. The cases and sources cited in Ortiz-Mondragon's brief further illustrate the point. While Ortiz-Mondragon's conviction may well qualify as a crime of moral turpitude, that conclusion is not "clear and certain" or "succinct and straightforward[,]" *Padilla*, 559 U.S. at 369. The circuit court correctly found that:

Even if, ultimately, Ortiz's crime *is* one of moral turpitude, as the term is used in 8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)(2)(A)(i), that statute, which does not provide or point one to a definition for the term, can hardly be said to be "succinct and straightforward." Because the law is not succinct and straightforward, Ortiz's counsel "need do no more than advise [Ortiz] that pending criminal charges may carry a risk of adverse immigration consequences." Padilla at 369. Ortiz does not assert that trial counsel did not so advise him, and the record affirmatively establishes that trial counsel did so advise him.⁶

⁶ As the circuit court noted, Ortiz-Mondragon conceded in his motion for plea withdrawal that he had received the statutory immigration warning, Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c), from both the circuit court and his trial counsel prior to entering his pleas (35:2; 36:2). The transcript from his plea and sentencing hearing is also illuminating. When the victim addressed the court, she specifically stated that she and Ortiz-Mondragon "were trying to keep [the family] here in the states, but if he ends up with a felony charge, that's not going to happen" (45:10). Then, when the circuit court asked whether Ortiz-Mondragon was on an immigration hold, his attorney stated: "I think there is, but the information I get is secondhand" (45:11). Those statements corroborate Ortiz-Mondragon's understanding that the charges against him "may carry a risk of adverse immigration consequences." Padilla, 559 U.S. at 369 (footnote omitted). Should this court disagree and conclude that additional information is necessary to support the circuit court's finding, however, the case should be remanded to the circuit court for an evidentiary hearing.

(36:6) (footnote added)(emphasis in original). This court should affirm the court of appeals' decision and find that Ortiz-Mondragon's trial attorney was required to do no more than advise him that his plea "may carry a risk of adverse immigration consequences." *Padilla*, 559 U.S. at 369. The court should also uphold the circuit court's finding that Ortiz-Mondragon did, in fact, receive such a warning. Should the court feel that additional evidence is necessary to support that finding, it should remand the case for an evidentiary hearing.

C. Even If This Court Concludes That Ortiz-Mondragon's Trial Attorney Performed Deficiently, The Court Should Remand The Case To The Circuit Court To Determine Whether Ortiz-Mondragon Suffered Prejudice As A Result.

Even if a defense attorney performs deficiently in advising a criminal defendant about the deportation consequences of a plea, the inquiry is far from over because the defendant bears the heavy burden of proving that the error prejudiced him:

Surmounting *Strickland*'s high bar is never an easy task. *See*, *e.g.*, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S. Ct. 2052 ("Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential"); *id.* at 693, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (observing that "[a]ttorney errors . . . are as likely to be utterly harmless in a particular case as they are to be prejudicial"). Moreover, to obtain relief on this type of claim, a petitioner must convince the court that a decision to reject the plea bargain would have been rational under the circumstances. *See Roe v. Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. 470, 480, 486, 120 S. Ct. 1029, 145 L.Ed.2d 985 (2000).

Padilla, 559 U.S. at 371-72 (emphasis added); *see also State* v. *Mendez*, 2014 WI App 57, ¶ 12, 354 Wis. 2d 88, 847 N.W.2d 895 (quoting *Padilla*, 559 U.S. at 372). In other

words, a defendant must establish a reasonable probability that he would not have pleaded guilty and would have gone to trial but for his attorney's allegedly deficient performance. See Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d at 311-12; see also Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985) (requires reasonable probability defendant would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial); People v. Bao Lin Xue, 30 A.D.3d 166, 815 N.Y.S.2d 566 (N.Y. App. Div. 2006) (no reasonable probability that defendant would have insisted on going to trial but for counsel's alleged mistake in affirmatively misrepresenting the immigration consequences of the plea).

In a recent decision, the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals explained how to determine prejudice in cases like this one:

In assessing prejudice, we consider the totality of the circumstances, including [the defendant's] evidence to support his assertion, his likelihood of success at trial, the risks [the defendant] would have faced at trial, [the defendant's] representations about his desire to retract his plea, his connections to the United States, and the district court's admonishments.

United States v. Kayode, No. 12-20513, 2014 WL 7334912 at *5 (5th Cir. Dec. 23, 2014) (footnote omitted). Balancing all of those factors, the Fifth Circuit held that Kayode had not proven prejudice. Id. *8. Because both the circuit court and the court of appeals found that Ortiz-Mondragon's trial counsel did not perform deficiently, neither addressed whether Ortiz-Mondragon suffered prejudice based on his attorney's advice. The record is incomplete on that point.

The record also does not include any specific documentation regarding Ortiz-Mondragon's removal proceedings. At his initial appearance, however, the prosecutor indicated that "the defendant is not here legally. I believe there is going to be an immigration hold on him very shortly" (42:3). If Ortiz-Mondragon was in the United

States illegally or otherwise subject to immigration action, he would not be able to establish prejudice under Strickland and Padilla. See Garcia v. State, 425 S.W.3d 248, 261 n.8 (Tenn. 2013) ("[Clourts have consistently held that an illegal alien who pleads guilty cannot establish prejudice, even if defense counsel failed to provide advice about the deportation consequences of the plea as Padilla requires, because a guilty plea does not increase the risk of deportation for such a person."); see also César Cuauhtémoc García Hernández, Padilla v. Kentucky's Inapplicability to Undocumented and Non-Immigrant Visitors, 39 Rutgers L. Rec. 47, 52 (2012) (observing that even if courts applied Padilla to undocumented persons, courts likely would deny claims of ineffective assistance of counsel on the grounds that any incompetent advice regarding the deportation consequences of a criminal conviction would be harmless because the individual would be deported regardless of the conviction). So. should this court find that Mondragon's attorney performed deficiently under Padilla. the court should remand the case to the circuit court for a hearing and related determination on prejudice.

CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, the State of Wisconsin asks this court to affirm the court of appeals' and the circuit court's decisions denying Fernando Ortiz-Mondragon's motion to withdraw his plea.